
 

 
 

 

Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Monday 23 August 2021 at 6.00 pm 
Conference Hall - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley, HA9 0FJ 
 
Please note this meeting will be held as a socially distanced physical meeting with all 
members of the Committee asked to attend in person. 
 
Should any member of the Committee be unable to attend in person please contact 
the meeting administrator (as listed below) so alternative arrangements can be 
made. Please note that if unable to attend in person it will not be possible for that 
member to be counted as present for the purposes of quorum or to participate in the 
voting on any item that may be required during the meeting. 
 
Guidance on the safe delivery of face-to-face meetings is included at the end of the 
agenda frontsheet. 
 
Due to current socially distanced venue capacity, any press and public 
wishing to attend this meeting are encouraged to do so via the live webcast. 
The link to view the meeting will be made available here. 
 

Membership: 
 
Members Substitute Members 
Councillors: Councillors: 
 

Ketan Sheth (Chair) 
Colwill (Vice-Chair) 
Aden 
Daly 
Afzal 
Ethapemi 
Hector 
Lloyd 
Sangani 
Shahzad 
Thakkar 

S Choudhary, Conneely, Hassan, Hylton, Johnson, 
Kabir, Long, Miller and Shah 
 
Councillors: 
 

Kansagra and Maurice  

 
Co-opted Members 
Helen Askwith, Church of England Schools 
Simon Goulden, Jewish Faith Schools 

Public Document Pack

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


Dinah Walker, Parent Governor Representative 
Alloysius Frederick, Roman Catholic Diocese Schools 
Sayed Jaffar Milani, Muslim Faith Schools 
 
Observers 
Brent Youth Parliament 
Jenny Cooper, NEU and Special School observer 
John Roche, NEU and Secondary School Observer 
Vacancy, NEU Primary School Observer 
 
 

For further information contact: Hannah O'Brien, Governance Officer 
hannah.o'brien@brent.gov.uk 

 

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the 
minutes of this meeting have been published visit: 

www.brent.gov.uk/committees 

 



 

3 
 

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest: 
 

If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, they 
must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent and 
must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item.  
 

If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must declare its 
existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent. 
 

If the Personal Interest is also significant enough to affect your judgement of a public interest and 
either it affects a financial position or relates to a regulatory matter then after disclosing the 
interest to the meeting the Member must leave the room without participating in discussion of the 
item, except that they may first make representations, answer questions or give evidence relating 
to the matter, provided that the public are allowed to attend the meeting for those purposes. 
 
*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
(a)  Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 

profit gain. 
(b)  Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of expenses in carrying 

out duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.  
(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the Councillors or 

their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the council. 
(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer. 
(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest. 
(g)  Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of business or 

land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued 
share capital. 

 

**Personal Interests: 
The business relates to or affects: 
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, and: 

 To which you are appointed by the council; 

 which exercises functions of a public nature; 

 which is directed is to charitable purposes; 

 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 
political party of trade union). 

(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least £50 as 
a member in the municipal year;  

or 
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or 
financial position of: 

 You yourself; 
a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close association or 
any person or body who is the subject of a registrable personal interest 
 



 

4 
 

Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members  
 

 

2 Declarations of interests  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, the nature 
and existence of any relevant disclosable pecuniary or personal interests 
in the items on this agenda and to specify the item(s) to which they relate. 
 

 

3 Deputations (if any)  
 

 

 To hear any deputations received from members of the public in 
accordance with Standing Order 67.  
 

 

4 To consider the Northwick Park NHS Trust maternity care 
improvement plans  

 

1 - 10 

 The purpose of the report is to share the details of the improvement plan 
for maternity care with reference to information requested on behalf of the 
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee. 
 
The report explains the external reviews that provide the 
recommendations and inform some of the improvement actions, 
governance, and delivery of improvement journey, challenges and next 
steps. 
 

 

5 Any other urgent business  
 

 

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Head of Executive and Member Services or his representative before 
the meeting in accordance with Standing Order 60. 
 

 

 
Date of the next meeting:  Tuesday 21 September 2021 
 

Guidance on the delivery of safe meetings at The Drum, Brent Civic Centre 
 

 The Drum has revised the capacities and floor plans for event space to 
ensure 2m social distancing. 

 Attendees are asked to keep a distance of 2m apart at all times. 

 Signage and reminders, including floor markers for social distancing and 



 

5 
 

one-way flow systems, are present throughout The Drum and should be 
followed. 

 The Civic Centre visitor lifts will have reduced capacity to help with social 
distancing. 

 The use of face coverings is encouraged. 

 Hand sanitiser dispensers are located at the main entrance to The Drum 
and within each meeting room. 

 Those attending meetings are asked to scan the coronavirus NHS QR 
code for The Drum upon entry. Posters of the QR code are located in 
front of the main Drum entrance and outside each boardroom. 

 Although not required, should anyone attending wish to book a lateral flow 
test in advance of the meeting, these are available at the Civic Centre and 
can be booked via the following link: https://www.brent.gov.uk/your-
community/coronavirus/covid-19-testing/if-you-dont-have-symptoms/  
 

 

https://www.brent.gov.uk/your-community/coronavirus/covid-19-testing/if-you-dont-have-symptoms/
https://www.brent.gov.uk/your-community/coronavirus/covid-19-testing/if-you-dont-have-symptoms/


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 
Community and Wellbeing Scrutiny 

Committee 
23 August 2021 

  

Report from London North West 
University Hospitals NHS Trust 

Northwick Park Maternity Services Maternity Improvement 
Plan 

 

Wards Affected:  All 

Key or Non-Key Decision:  Not Applicable 

Open or Part/Fully Exempt: 
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act) 

Open 

No. of Appendices: None 

Background Papers:  
London North West University Healthcare NHS 
Trust Northwick Park Hospital CQC Inspection 
report 25 June 2021.  

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Lisa Knight MBE, Chief Nurse 
 

 
1. Purpose  

 
The purpose of this report is to share the details of the improvement plan for maternity 
care with reference to information requested on behalf of the Community and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee. 
 
The report will explain the external reviews that provide the recommendations and 
inform some of the improvement actions, the governance and delivery of the 
improvement journey, challenges and next steps. 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
That the plan and work in progress be noted. 
 
3. Detail 
 
3.1. Maternity Improvement Plan 
 
The Maternity Improvement plan (MIP) is the coordinating document for the complex 
streams of work being undertaken in the maternity unit. It has been drawn together 
following a series of concerns, reports and intelligence about the maternity service. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

https://www.lnwh.nhs.uk/download.cfm?doc=docm93jijm4n6100
https://www.lnwh.nhs.uk/download.cfm?doc=docm93jijm4n6100
https://www.lnwh.nhs.uk/download.cfm?doc=docm93jijm4n6100


 
 

 
These sources are:  
 
Independent Review of Perinatal Deaths 
In August 2020 the Trust noticed a rise in perinatal mortality over the previous months. 
A letter of concern was sent to the leadership of the Integrated Care System (ICS) to 
inform them of the issue and that the Trust board were commissioning an external 
review. The ICS were asked to support this and convened a panel to review the cases 
which reported in January 2021. All 28 recommendations from the review are included 
in the MIP. 
 
Health Education England (HEE) 
HEE undertook a Multi-professional Learner and Educator Review of the service in 
May 2021 and issued recommendations on the 16th June 2021.  This was a follow up 
review from October 2020 when multiple concerns had been raised by trainees in 
relation to their experience of behaviours as well as a lack of engagement of 
educators/ senior medical clinicians. The follow-up HEE review indicated a lack of 
progress in areas highlighted and did not feel that LNWUH Women’s services were a 
conducive environment for learning. 
 

Care Quality Commission (CQC)  
The Maternity Unit was rated as inadequate in 2018 and requires improvement in 
2019. The recommendations from these inspections along with more recent concerns 
from CQC enquires were used to inform the improvement actions. 
 
The CQC undertook an inspection on the 19th April 2021 and rated the Maternity Unit 
as inadequate for the safe and well led domains, and therefore inadequate as an 
overall rating. Trust overall ratings were unaffected. Altogether the service had 19 
‘Must Do’ Actions required by the CQC. These actions are being managed as part of 
the Maternity improvement plan.  
 
The Trust Ockenden self-assessment, recommendations from Health Service 
Investigation Branch(HSIB) reports and feedback detailed in the 2020 staff survey 
have also been incorporated into the improvement plan along with staff ideas for 
improvement collected from a number of engagement events, task and finish groups 
and suggestions. 
 
The Maternity Improvement Plan is updated weekly and is a live document. The Trust 
has a Maternity web pages which include the updates from the report and the plan. 
The link is available here: https://www.lnwh.nhs.uk/maternity-improvement-plan 
 
3.2. Governance and Delivery of the Improvement Journey 
 
The Trust has undertaken a themed review of all of its external reports and internal 
intelligence grouping actions into themes to make the maternity improvement plan 
more user friendly. These themes are:  

 Workforce Culture and Leadership,  

 Woman- Centred Individualised Care 

 Safe and Effective care  
 

Page 2

https://www.lnwh.nhs.uk/maternity-improvement-plan


 
 

The maternity improvement plan is reviewed at the following meetings: 
 

 Weekly internal Maternity steering group (Chair Chief Nurse) 

 2 weekly ICS deep dive assurance meeting (CQC) 

 2 weekly Trust Executive Group (Chair CEO) 

 Monthly Maternity Improvement Group (Chair CEO also attended by NED 
maternity champion) 

 Monthly ICS led System Oversight meeting (CQC and NHSEI attend) 

 Board Quality and Safety sub-committee and Trust Board 
 
The governance structure for managing the MIP is below: 

 

 

 

3.3. External Support 
 

The Trust has been working closely with the Local Maternity and Neonatal System 

(LMNS) to convene a programme of support for the unit. This includes reviewing the 

opportunity for on-site presence of a multi-disciplinary team to assist in delivering 

substantive change. Colleagues from leadership teams at Sector maternity units have 

already visited the Unit to support. 

 

As a consequence of the CQC inadequate rating the unit has triggered the criteria for 

the National Maternity Safety programme. The Trust exited the programme in January 

2020 following the previous inadequate rating. There has been a collaborative meeting 

between the national programme leaders, the LMNS and the Trust to coordinate an 

approach that sees the delivery of one support programme so that the Trust can 

Page 3



 
 

manage the operational complexity of the visits and also so that the staff only see one 

team of people that they get to know. It has been agreed that the LMNS will coordinate 

this approach.  

 

3.4. Organisational Development Programme  
 

The main theme of all of the reports is the team working and culture that is pervading 

the unit. This is primarily general lack of civility to each other, and claims that staff are 

scared to speak out. The Trust has also noticed that some members of the consultant 

body are disengaged. 

 

The Trust has commissioned the Organisational Development Company STEPS to 

deliver a multi professional programme of training and support to the clinical leaders 

of the service. This programme has just commenced and due to run over a 6 month 

period in the first instance. 

 

3.5. Working with Women 
 

There has been a substantive history of collaborative working with our Maternity 

Voices Partnership (MVP) which continued weekly through the pandemic. During this 

process the chair has been regularly updated and is a full member of the Maternity 

Improvement Group. We are very aware that the recent publicity may have made 

women worried about having their babies at Northwick Park. We see a number of 

women through the antenatal and postnatal periods of their pregnancy, with a smaller 

number of deliveries as a result of a proportion of women choosing to deliver their 

babies at neighbouring units. 

 

3.6. Leadership and Managerial Capacity 
 

The Chief Nurse is the senior responsible officer for Maternity and therefore the 

Maternity Improvement Programme. The Division responsible for the maternity service 

(the Women’s and Children’s Division) has a substantive Clinical Director, long-term 

interim Divisional General Manager until March 2022, and a new interim Director of 

Midwifery. The substantive appointment of the Director of Midwifery has been 

postponed due to applicants withdrawing from the process. It will be re-advertised in 

September.  

 

Additional divisional support is being provided in governance, human resources, 

operations, a transformation fellow, an improvement manager as well as a senior 

maternity improvement manager. 

 

Page 4



 
 

Even with this additional support the leadership environment is very challenging. The 

need for many levels of internal and external assurance is complex and stressful for 

the team. 

 

3.7. Recruitment and Staffing 
 

The unit continues to experience high levels of absence in both medical and midwifery 

staffing, due to vacancies which continues to be exacerbated by high levels of 

turnover. 

 

Whilst there are recruitment plans in place it should be noted that competition for 

midwives will increase due to funding streams from national maternity investment, 

resulting in a general increase in midwifery posts. We have been fortunate to receive 

this funding but our priority is to fill the already existing vacancies. This workforce gap 

will further increase stressors on our staff but also make participation in our 

improvement work more challenging.  

 

3.8. Requested detail 
 

The overall plan and timeline for the Trust’s improvement of maternity services, plus 

governance and oversight of the plan and delivery.  Dates of any CQC (or other 

inspection regime) review.   

 

The improvement plan is regularly updated, the latest version is available on this link. 

The Governance and oversight is described above section 3.2. CQC Inspections are 

unannounced . 

 

Does the new leadership team of the maternity service at Northwick Park Hospital 

have a proper governance structure in place - is the Trust able to provide assurance 

that they have the skills and abilities to run the service, or to implement meaningful 

changes to improve the safety of the service? 

 

Described above section 3.2/3.6 

 

How are leaders made aware of the challenges to the service?  How were they aware 

of the challenges prior to inspection? 

 

The Trust was aware of many of the challenges prior to the inspection.  It was the 

Trust’s escalation to the ICS on the issues that was one of the reasons a CQC 

inspection was triggered, as the Trust had sent them the report along with all of the 

Page 5

https://www.lnwh.nhs.uk/maternity-improvement-plan


 
 

other reports discussed in the paper.  Prior to the CQC inspection the Trust was 

already in the process of developing the Maternity Improvement Plan (MIP). 

 

The current improvement journey is managed and monitored at all levels within the 

organisation, with a lot of improvement actions being developed and delivered by staff 

caring for our women. There is enthusiasm for change and the divisional leadership 

are supporting this inclusive approach. 

 

How are leaders made aware of what is on the risk register, including longstanding 

issues within the service that are yet to be addressed.  

 

At the time of the inspection the risk register did require a more robust review.  This 

has been completed and updated.  The risk register is reviewed at the division’s 

monthly governance meeting and high rated risks reviewed at the Trust’s Risk and 

Compliance Meeting. The Trust has a BAF risk on maternity, which is reviewed at 

Trust Board. 

 

How are leaders visible and clearly engaged in addressing issues on time? 

 

Leaders are visible at morning and evening handovers. 

 

The Trust has been running bi-weekly staff engagement and briefing events  

co-ordinated by the team.  There is constant leadership present on the shop floor 

rounds especially since the arrival of the new director of midwifery.  There are twice 

weekly executive walk rounds shared amongst the members of the executive heads.  

 

The trust reported 13 serious incidents between March 2020 and March 2021, which 

included eight perinatal (baby) deaths over a five-week period, during July and August 

last year, which is a very high number over such a short period. The trust escalated 

this to the North West London Integrated Care System (ICS) for an external review 

and the Trust had an improvement plan in place to address issues identified in the ICS 

report. What was the outcome of the review, what were the underlying reasons for this 

and what is the current rate of serious incidents reported?   

 

All 28 recommendations from the external review are part of the MIP. The summary 

of the findings and the actions to address the recommendations are available on the 

Trust’s internet for patients, families and the general public to access. This will be 

updated at regular intervals.  

 

Page 6



 
 

Serious incidents are managed within the service in line with the National process. 

The Trust have not seen a cluster of incidents for the service. 

 

How do doctors, nurses and other healthcare professionals work well together as a 

team to support each other to provide good care 

 

The service recently introduced twice-daily multidisciplinary ward rounds and is in the 

process of making them work as effectively as possible, in part to ensure good patient 

flow between the different units in maternity. 

 

MDT working is also being addressed as part of the external support the service is 

receiving and Organisational Development programme described above. 

Training undertaken regularly to continually update all multi-disciplinary groups is 

delivered as a multi-disciplinary team approach, as recommended nationally. 

 

Are there any concerns about staffing levels and the high use of agency staff?  

 

See section above section 3.7. 

 

Can the Trust provide assurance that it has effective systems in place to ensure that 

medical and midwifery staff have the competence, skills and experience to safely care 

for, and meet the needs of, women and babies using the service? 

 

Mandatory training and learning updates are provided weekly to staff, and records of 

attendance are in place and reviewed weekly within the Division.  Any non-compliance 

is targeted on an individual basis. 

 

Is mandatory training meeting the Trust’s target? Is safeguarding training compliance 

meeting the Trust targets?  

 

The mandatory training compliance is 1% below the Trust target for this service with 

a plan to ensure compliance. 

 

The safeguarding compliance meets Trust targets. 

 

Are domestic violence assessments always documented?  Are systems in place to 

ensure compliance with this?   

 

Domestic violence assessments (time alone with women) is recorded as part of a 

continuous risk assessment at each appointment. Audits of handheld records and the 

Page 7



 
 

electronic maternity patient record are undertaken to check compliance as well as spot 

checks. 

 

Do staff routinely and always complete and update risk assessments for each patient? 

 

The Trust has always had a risk assessment process, which required updating.  A new 

booking and continuous risk assessment tool was introduced in April 2021 in line with 

recommendations from the Ockenden report. Compliance with this tool has been 

audited with ongoing spot checks on a random sample [including community women] 

audited weekly. The Maternity Education Team will continue to train staff where 

required. 

 

Does the maternity service manage patient safety incidents well?  How is this 

assessed and managed to ensure that any incidents are reported in a timely way or 

lessons learned shared amongst the wider service? 

 

We can confirm that in the large majority of cases, incidents are reported rapidly 

following their occurrence. The maternity risk team “walks the floor” each day. They 

identify any incidents of note each morning and ensure that they are discussed during 

the morning handover and are reported promptly.  

 

Our maternity team review all reported incidents locally on our Datix system. These 

incidents are also reviewed by our corporate patient safety team as a second line 

check and challenge mechanism. Any incidents which meet the criteria are subject to 

a 72 hour report, which are completed by the maternity multidisciplinary risk team. 

We share learning locally through both service level and divisional governance forums 

and in the maternity newsletter. Weekly focused meetings designed for sharing any 

recommendations from incident reporting also provides any necessary additional 

training in use in the reporting system and has been well received. In this context, we 

also encourage people to report incidents when they occur.  

 

Are there any concerns regarding delays in the induction of labour for women?  How 

long are women waiting to be induced?  

 

On 23 April 2021, we audited 21 cases of women who presented between March 2020 

and February 2021. The audit confirmed that induction of labour occurs within 48 hours 

in almost half of the cases but identified delays in the remaining cases. This is largely 

attributable to the capacity in both our antenatal and labour ward areas at peak times, 

and is clearly an issue that we take extremely seriously. Following the audit, the 

Page 8



 
 

scheduling of women requiring Induction of Labour was changed, and a review of this 

change demonstrated improvement.   

 

The induction of labour pathway is one of the areas that the ICS support team are 

helping with. 

 

3.9. Conclusion and Next Steps 
 

It is important to note that many improvements and changes have occurred in the unit 

over the last few months, particularly addressing the urgent elements of the MIP and 

CQC requirements, creating a leadership structure and focussing on staff 

engagement, however there remains an extensive amount of work to undertake.  

 

This includes: 

 Recruit to a substantive Director of Midwifery 

 Deliver the organisational development plan and cultural improvements 

 Coordinate the LMS support team and the National Maternity Safety team  

 Continue to work with learners to improve the educational experience 

 Recruit to key posts and reduce the leaver’s rate particularly in midwifery. 

 Continue to deliver the Maternity Improvement Plan 

 
4.0 Financial Implications  
 
 NA 
 
5.0 Legal Implications  
 
 NA 
 
6.0 Equality Implications 
 
 NA   
 
 

 
 
 

Report sign off:   
 
Lisa Knight MBE 
Chief Nurse, London Northwest University 
Hospitals NHS Trust 
 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To consider the Northwick Park NHS Trust maternity care improvement plans

